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The children’s hospital at Pest has been opened as a result of Ágoston Schoepf’s determined ambition on the 15th of August 1839. In those days there were hardly any health-resorts specialized for pediatrics on the continent. At the beginning of the 19th
century the „Hôpital des enfants malades” has been established at Napoleon’s disposal in Paris followed by the „Nicolai” children’s Hospital in St-Petersburg. The first two pediatric departments on Austrian-Hungarian territory were founded by two Győr-born contemporaries: The „Sankt Anna Kinderspital” in Vienna was established by Mauthner in 1837 and the children’s hospital in Pest was set up by Schoepf in 1839.

The antecedents were following: Schoepf has been living in Pest from 1834 and opened his private Institute of Orthopedics’ called „ Private Institute for the treatment of adenopathies and crookedness of the body and limbs” in the present Dohány street. It is obvious from the review written by Schoepf that patient were admitted to the hospital until the age of 18 but the whole field of the discipline listed in the name of the institute. The first official visitor of the hospital was count István Széchenyi (“the greatest Hungarian”) who was accompanied by his wife and signed the memorial volume of the institute as well.

The flood destroyed the building of the Institute in March 1838. Schoepf could not think to rebuild the hospital on his own. The idea for the foundation of an association formed by the keeper of the crown Francis Ürményi to cover the expenses of the establishment. The medical work started on 16th of August 1839 in ten first floor-rooms of a house rented in the Ötpacsirta (“Five Larks”) street with 12 + 19 patients. They had a great number of outpatients (about 1000-3000/ year); numerous operations and autopsies were performed, and drugs produced by themselves. The range and order of activity were controlled and coordinated by a well defined agenda for the rounds, as well as for the duty of the two assistant-doctors and the nursing staff.

Schoepf published a report after the 3 and a quarter year period defining „the aim of the institute: to nurse and treat the helpless children regardless of their religion, birth and address; to admit mothers together with their seriously sick infants; to improve the child welfare and poor relief by the out-patient clinic described below finally to offer an opportunity for the young physicians to train themselves in this important, difficult but until now neglected field of medicine in order to improve and distribute the pediatric discipline all over the country.”

During this period 4364 patients among those 771 inpatients were treated in the hospital between the age of 6 days to 13 years. The majority of the patients was living in Pest but the children were coming from Buda and the country-side as well. The profession of the parents was well set down, the majority belonged to the poors (merchants clerks, servants, carters, messengers, and hired men ). One quarter of the patients was suffering from surgical diseases submitted to different operations: bladder cutting, limb amputations, articulations, sawing off, replacement of missing members, separation of accretions and reunification of the separated parts on the face.” Besides, cutting of the tendons, correction of fractures and knee-curvature were also carried out. Patients were transferred from distant places as „sorrow, there are not enough surgeons and even less taking leave to operate children.” Medical treatment was clear-cut documented by the restored medical reports of the outpatients and that of the 348 inpatients. In the first period of the hospital (1839-1842) case histories were written entirely in Latin. On the other hand, at the end of the forties, according to the patriotic trend of the reform period, the whole texts including the diagnoses and terminology were written in Hungarian. The medical activity of the period is well documented in the textbook of Schoepf. This book contains the histories and autopsy findings of numerous patients and has partly been published and restored in manuscript (galley-proof) form respectively. It is obvious that the medical staff was aware of the new methods in physical examinations of the period. Schoepf has pointed out the need for more beds to cover the mounting tasks. The hospital association started to build an independent house in the Ősz (present Szentkirályi) street, 200 meters far from the former building. The headstone of the new building was laid down on 14th June 1845 by Archduchess Mary-Dorothy ( the wife of palatine Joseph ), the main patroness of the hospital association. The ceremony was taking place in the presence of her daughter Mary, wife of the Belgian King Leopold and mother of the later eponymous Archduchess Stephanie. Revolution and war as well as forced leaving of Schoepf in 1848-49 deprived the Institute from its leader and most of its financial resources. Schoepf was forced to leave country because of his political and military participation in the war of independence. His wife died on the way in cholera while he was escaping from Hungary with his children first to Turkey and later to France. Finally he was settled down in England founding a hospital in Manchester together with an obstetrician Whitehead. He was highly active in medical literature until his death in 1858.

Schoepf-Merei is the first true well-trained Hungarian paediatrician who established the methods of auscultation and percussion in our country. He made obligatory the obduction following exits and recording histories. In our knowledge he was the first in performing narcosis in children, as well. Similarly, the first paediatric journal and paediatric textbook in Hungarian language are counted to among his merits.
